








Claremont Community and Human Services
Commission

Agenda Report

File #: 5449 Item No: 1.

TO: COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

FROM: JEREMY SWAN, COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTOR
MELISSA VOLLARO, RECREATION AND HUMAN SERVICES DIRECTOR

DATE: MARCH 12, 2025

SUBJECT:

COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF
FEBRUARY 5, 2025

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Community and Human Services Commission approve and file the
Community and Human Services Commission regular meeting minutes of February 5, 2025.

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS

The agenda and staff report for this item have been posted on the City website and distributed to
interested parties. If you desire a copy, please contact the City Clerk’s Office.

Submitted by: Submitted by:

Jeremy Swan Melissa Vollaro
Community Services Director Recreation and Human Services Director

Prepared by:

Dawn Bonnell Ross
Senior Administrative Assistant

Attachment:
02-05-25 Draft CHS Commission Meeting Minutes

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 1 of 1
powered by Legistar™



Announcement

ATTACHMENT



Commissioner Brower moved to approve the Consent Calendar, seconded by 
Commissioner Silva, and carried on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: Commissioner – Binder, Brower, Glass, Roselle, Scott Toux, Sifuentes, Silva 
NOES: Commissioner – None 



The Commission received and filed the report. 





Claremont Community and Human Services
Commission

Agenda Report

File #: 5450 Item No: 2.

TO: COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

FROM: JEREMY SWAN, COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTOR
MELISSA VOLLARO, RECREATION AND HUMAN SERVICES DIRECTOR

DATE: MARCH 12, 2025

SUBJECT:

COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Community and Human Services Commission receive and file the various
committee meeting minutes.

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS

The agenda and staff report for this item have been posted on the City website and distributed to
interested parties. If you desire a copy, please contact the City Clerk’s Office.

Submitted by: Submitted by:

Jeremy Swan Melissa Vollaro
Community Services Director Recreation and Human Services Director

Prepared by:

Dawn Bonnell Ross
Senior Administrative Assistant

Attachments:
A - 05-20-24 Committee on Human Relations Meeting Minutes
B - 01-15-25 Teen Committee Meeting Minutes

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 1 of 1
powered by Legistar™



ATTACHMENT A 







ATTACHMENT B







Claremont Community and Human Services
Commission

Agenda Report

File #: 5458 Item No: 3.

TO: COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

FROM: JEREMY SWAN, COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTOR

DATE: MARCH 12, 2025

SUBJECT:

TREE PLANTINGS AND REMOVALS FOR DECEMBER 2024

SUMMARY

The adopted Tree Policies and Guidelines Manual requires the Community Services Department to
provide a monthly report on tree plantings and removals. This report includes information on City tree
plantings and removals for the month of December 2024. Twenty trees were planted, and twelve
trees were removed in December 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Community and Human Services Commission receive and file the tree
plantings and removals report for December 2024.

ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

In addition to the recommendation, there is the following alternative:

 Refer the item back to staff for additional information.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Twenty trees were planted during the month of December. All twenty trees were 15-gallon-size and
planted by the City’s contractor, West Coast Arborists, Inc. (WCA) at a cost of $220 each. The total
cost to plant all twenty trees was $4,400.

Twelve trees were removed during the month of December 2024. All twelve trees were removed by
WCA. The removal cost is based on the diameter at breast height of the tree, and the total cost for
removing the twelve trees was $9,791.

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 1 of 2
powered by Legistar™



ANALYSIS

The Community Services Department is responsible for the daily management of the City’s urban
forest, including the planting and removal of City trees. The City-Council-adopted Tree Policies and
Guidelines Manual establishes the standards governing the tree planting and removal process.

Plantings

Twenty trees were planted during the month of December. All twenty trees were planted by WCA
within the City’s rights-of-way. All twenty trees were 15-gallon-size. A listing of trees planted by
address is included as Attachment A.

Removals

It is the City's policy to protect and preserve healthy trees that provide valuable benefits to our
environment and to the quality of life in Claremont. However, staff has the authority to remove City
trees if a tree is considered dead, diseased, or hazardous. Additionally, per the Tree Policies and
Guidelines Manual, staff has the authority to remove trees that are causing hardscape/infrastructure
damage if the repairs cannot be made without severe root pruning that would jeopardize the health
and stability of the tree. To be consistent with the Tree Policies and Guidelines Manual, the reason
for removal listed in the report will be based upon the conditions listed in the manual. It should be
noted that this report is for removals in December 2024, prior to approval of the revised Tree Polices
and Guidelines Manual. Beginning with February 2025 removals, the reasons for removal will be
consistent with the revised Manual.

Twelve trees were removed during the month of December. All trees were removed by WCA from the
City’s rights-of-way and parks. These removals include trees that were deemed dead, diseased, or
hazardous by the City Arborist. A listing of trees removed by address is included as Attachment B.
Photos of the trees removed during the month of December 2024 are included as Attachment C.

CEQA REVIEW

This item is not subject to environmental review under the California Environmental Quality Act
(CEQA).

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS

The agenda and staff report for this item have been posted on the City website and distributed to
interested parties. If you desire a copy, please contact the City Clerk’s Office.

Submitted by: Prepared by:

Jeremy Swan Cari Dillman
Community Services Director Community Services Manager

Attachments:
A - Trees Planted by Address - December 2024
B - Trees Removed by Address - December 2024
C - Photos of Removed Trees - December 2024

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 2 of 2
powered by Legistar™





ATTACHMENT B 
Trees Removed by Address – December 2024 

 
ADDRESS COMMON NAME REASON 

625 12TH ST /W AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
200 1ST ST /W AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
211 1ST ST /W AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
325 1ST ST /W AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
395 ANDOVER DR BRISBANE BOX DEAD 
105 BROOKS AV AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
100 COLLEGE AV /N MANNA GUM DEAD 
1200 COLLEGE AV /N AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
400 INDIAN HILL BL /N JACARANDA DEAD 
PADUA PARK COAST LIVE OAK ADVANCED DECLINE 
616 PURDUE DR AMERICAN SWEETGUM DEAD 
2432 SAN MATEO CT COAST LIVE OAK ADVANCED DECLINE 

 









Claremont Community and Human Services
Commission

Agenda Report

File #: 5463 Item No: 4.

TO:  COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

FROM:  MELISSA VOLLARO, RECREATION AND HUMAN SERVICES DIRECTOR

DATE:  MARCH 12, 2025

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF THE COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RELATIONS

SUMMARY

Due to terms ending and resignations, the Committee on Human Relations had five vacancies in
August 2024. Between September 2024 and January 2025, there were three new applicants. All
three were interviewed, selected, and then appointed at the February 5, 2025, Community and
Human Services Commission Meeting, bringing the total to seven members.

Recruitment materials have been out for more than six months, and the Committee on Human
Relations has not hit the total of nine members required by the Policies and Procedures, making it
difficult to meet quorum.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee on Human Relations recommends the Community and Human Services Commission
approve the revisions to the Committee on Human Relations Policies and Procedures.

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS

The agenda and staff report for this item have been posted on the City website and distributed to
interested parties. If you desire a copy, please contact the Recreation and Human Services
Department.

Submitted by: Prepared by:

Melissa Vollaro Michelle Castillo
Recreation and Human Services Director Management Analyst

Attachments:
A - CoHR Policies and Procedures
B - Excerpt of the 02-24-25 CoHR Special Meeting Minutes (Draft)

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 1 of 1
powered by Legistar™



 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES CLAREMONT 
COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RELATIONS 

 

 Page 1 of 3 

A Standing Committee of the  
CLAREMONT COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION 

 
A. MISSION STATEMENT 

The Mission of the Committee on Human Relations is to advocate and promote diversity, 
equity and inclusion, and act as an advisory body to the Community and Human 
Services Commission. The Committee will make recommendations on methods of 
inspiring mutual respect and understanding among people, to discourage prejudice and 
discrimination, and work towards cultural awareness and unity. The Committee may also 
make recommendations as to special events which will further its purpose.  

B. VISION  

To advance inclusion and transparency from aspiration to reality, among our diverse 
communities, through engagement and collaboration.  

C. FUNCTION  

The functions of the Committee on Human Relations shall include but not be limited to 
the following:  

1. Advise the Community and Human Services Commission in areas of human 
services and human relations.  

 
2. Facilitate learning experiences and conversations that help community members 

understand the need for justice, adopt attitudes of mutual acceptance, promote 
respect, respond to conflict in society, and bring awareness to implicit and 
structural bias.  

 
3. Stay informed of the development of local, county, state, and national programs 

that could advance the goals of the Committee on Human Relations.  
 
4. Work cooperatively with staff in developing an annual work plan.  
 
5. Work in consultation with, and guidance from, the Los Angeles Commission on 

Human Relations, to establish best practices pertaining to programing, 
community engagement, and mediation.  

 
6. Receive information on hate crimes and hate incidents as they occur in 

Claremont from the Police Department.  

D. MEMBERSHIP  

1. The committee shall consist of 7 members who reflect the diversity of the 
community and reside, attend school or have their primary employment in the city 
of Claremont.  

 

Deleted: 9

ATTACHMENT A



 
COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RELATIONS - POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Page 2 of 4 
 

2. Members of the same household may not serve on the same committee. 
 

3. Committee member terms shall be four years beginning September 1st of the 
year appointed. Terms shall be staggered to maintain continuity. Terms shall 
expire on August 31st of the year established upon appointment.  

 
4. Prior to May each year City Staff shall contact eligible committee members whose 

terms are expiring and determine if there is interest in being considered to serve 
an additional term.  

 
5. Committee members are appointed by the Community and Human Services 

Commission. Prior to July each year, the Chair of the Community and Human 
Services Commission may appoint a Community and Human Services ad hoc 
committee to review applications, and if necessary, conduct interviews to make 
recommendations to the full Commission on the appointment of new members.  

 
6. A committee member may be removed from office for any reason by a majority 

vote of either the Community and Human Services Commission or the City 
Council. To the extent the City Council and Community and Human Services 
Commission disagree on removal, the City Council decision shall prevail.  

 
7. Should a vacancy occur prior to the end of the member’s scheduled term, the 

Community and Human Services Commission shall recommend a replacement 
for the non-expired term.  

 
8. Members shall attend meetings and participate in the activities of the committee.  

 
9.  The committee shall include at least one member and an alternate from the 

Community and Human Services Commission to serve as a liaison to the 
committee. Liaison is a non-voting position.  

 
10. The Commission liaison shall receive information about all meetings related to 

the committee such as ad hoc committee meetings and shall report to the 
Commission all pertinent information about committee activities.  

 
 

11. The committee shall include at least one staff representative from the Recreation 
and Human Services Department to serve as a liaison to the committee. Liaison 
is a non-voting position.  

 
12. The Staff liaison(s) will update the Community and Human Services Commission 

on current members annually.  

E. OFFICERS  

Deleted: ¶
Committee members may serve a total of eight years 
and may reapply to serve following a one-year break 
in service. ¶

Deleted: <#>The committee shall include at least 
one member from the Police Commission to serve 
as a liaison to the committee. Liaison is a non-
voting position. ¶



 
COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RELATIONS - POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Page 3 of 4 
 

1. The committee shall nominate and select a chairperson and vice chairperson 
from its membership in September. Terms shall be one year in length with a limit 
of two consecutive terms. 

 
2. Officer terms shall take place from September 1-August 31. 3. The committee 

shall nominate and select replacements for officer vacancies that occur from 
within the membership. The appointment expires August 31st.  

F. AD HOC COMMITTEES  

1. Ad hoc committees can be appointed by the Chair as needed for discrete subjects 
or tasks. 
 

2. An ad hoc committee may not be a standing committee with a fixed meeting time 
and/or continuing subject matter jurisdiction. It cannot have members from 
another City legislative body and remain an ad hoc committee but is free to meet 
with staff and members of the community. 

 
3. Ad hoc committees must be comprised of at least two members. They may not 

be greater than or equal to the quorum of the committee. 
 

4. Ad hoc committees must report on their work progress at each regular meeting.  

G. MEETINGS  

1. The committee must work from an agenda prepared in advance by the Chair and 
staff liaisons. 
 

2. The committee shall meet at least four times each calendar year, on a stated 
date, at a stated time, set in advance by the Committee and noticed in 
accordance with the Brown Act. The regular meeting will be conducted on the 
third Monday of September, November, February and May at 7:00 p.m. 

 
3. Meeting minutes, prepared by City Staff, must be distributed with the agenda prior 

to the meeting. 
 

4. Committee meetings must adhere to the requirements of the State of California 
Brown Act.  

H. STANDING RULES  

1. A quorum is reached when more than half (1/2) of all voting members are present. 
 

2. A committee cannot conduct business or take action unless a quorum of voting 
committee members is present. 

 
3. All minutes shall be approved by the committee and received and filed by the 

Community and Human Services Commission. All material submitted shall, in 



 
COMMITTEE ON HUMAN RELATIONS - POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Page 4 of 4 
 

turn, be forwarded, unabridged, to the City Council, with a recommendation from 
the Community and Human Services Commission regarding such material.  

 
Originally Adopted 03/10/1997 
Revised and Adopted 02/03/2021 



Draft of the Committee on Human Relations Special Meeting Minutes 
February 24, 2025 
Page 1 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
 
2.      Policies and Procedures 

  
Michelle Castillo, Management Analyst, presented the proposed revisions to the 
Policies and Procedures to lower the total required Committee on Human 
Relations Members from nine to seven, in addition to removing the Police 
Commission liaison. Changes also include updating the Recreation and Human 
Services’ department name change and removing the reference to term limits for 
City appointed positions.  
 
Chair Barnes-Slater invited public comment. 
 
There were no requests to speak. 
 
This report was received and filed 

ATTACHMENT B



Claremont Community and Human Services
Commission

Agenda Report

File #: 5461 Item No: 5.

TO: COMMUNITY AND HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

FROM: MELISSA VOLLARO, RECREATION AND HUMAN SERVICES DIRECTOR

DATE: MARCH 12, 2025

SUBJECT:

ORDINANCE CODIFYING TRAIL ETIQUETTE STANDARDS AND REGULATING THE USE OF
ELECTRIC BICYCLES IN THE CLAREMONT HILLS WILDERNESS PARK

SUMMARY

Electric bicycles, or e-bikes, have become an increasingly popular method of individual
transportation. A change in state law in 2023 permitted e-bikes to be operated on trails by default,
unless a local agency passed an ordinance restricting their use. Over the past year, staff have
received a significant number of concerns regarding the safe use of these devices in parks and on
trails. In response, the City Council directed staff to research potential options to regulate the use of
e-bikes in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park (CHWP) and encourage visitors to utilize proper trail
etiquette.

In August of 2024, staff released a survey for park visitors and the community to provide their
feedback on the use of e-bikes. Additionally, staff implemented a “Share the Trail” information
campaign to encourage respectful and safe use of the CHWP by all visitors. Staff also researched the
policies of neighboring trail systems and have utilized this information in conjunction with the survey
results to develop two proposed ordinances that would modify Chapter 11 of the Claremont Municipal
Code to regulate the use of e-bikes and codify trail etiquette standards in the CHWP.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Community and Human Services Commission recommend one of the
following options:
A.    Recommend that the City Council adopt the proposed Ordinance prohibiting the use of

Class 2 and Class 3 e-bicycles in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park.
B.    Recommend that the City Council adopt the proposed Ordinance prohibiting the use of

all e-bicycles in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park.

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 1 of 8
powered by Legistar™



ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

In addition to the staff recommendation, there are the following alternatives:

A. Request staff to make changes to the proposed Ordinance.
B. Recommend that the City Council not adopt the Ordinance.
C. Request additional information from staff.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The staff cost to conduct the survey and prepare this report is estimated at $1,837 and is included in
the operating budget of the Recreation and Human Services Department. Should an ordinance be
adopted by the City Council, the cost to purchase and install temporary signage is estimated at
$3,500. New, permanent signage would be incorporated into a concurrent project, updating all
signage in the CHWP.

ANALYSIS

Background

The Claremont Hills Wilderness Park is one of the premier destinations for outdoor recreation in the
Pomona Valley, welcoming over 450,000 visitors per year, as determined by the 2023 CHWP Visitor
Intercept Survey. Over the past several years, e-bikes have greatly increased in popularity while
technological advances continue to make these devices more affordable.

Prior to 2023, under the California Vehicle Code, Class 1 and 2 e-bikes were permitted to operate on
trails unless specifically prohibited by local law. On January 1, 2023, AB 1909 took effect, which
eliminated all e-bike restrictions on trails and permitted any class of e-bike by default, unless a local
agency passed an ordinance to prohibit some or all classes of e-bikes. Since this time, City staff have
received an increasing number of concerns from park visitors about the use of e-bikes. Therefore, the
City Council directed staff to research potential options to regulate the use of e-bikes in the CHWP
and encourage visitors to utilize proper trail etiquette. The Claremont Hills Wilderness Park Master
Plan states “Inclusive and managed public access is provided as secondary to preserving the natural
environment and limiting the impacts to surrounding properties. The CHWP allows for passive
recreational opportunities that connect people to nature and promote healthy lifestyles.”

In response to this directive, staff has prepared two draft ordinances based on data collected from
survey respondents and citizen contacts. Additionally, staff developed the “Share the Trail” campaign
to educate park visitors on proper trail etiquette, which was implemented in July of 2024 and has
assisted in mitigating concerns.

Defining an E-Bike

The California Vehicle Code (CVC) section 312.5 currently defines an e-bicycle as "a bicycle
equipped with fully operable pedals and an electric motor of less than 750 watts." CVC section 312.5
further defines specific classifications of e-bikes as follows:

 A “class 1 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed pedal-assisted electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped
with a motor that provides assistance only when the rider is pedaling, that is not capable of
exclusively propelling the bicycle, except as provided in paragraph (4), that ceases to provide

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 2 of 8
powered by Legistar™



assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 miles per hour, and that is not capable of
providing assistance to reach speeds greater than 20 miles per hour.

 A “class 2 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed throttle-assisted electric bicycle,” is a bicycle
equipped with a motor that may be used exclusively to propel the bicycle, and that is not
capable of providing assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 miles per hour.

 A “class 3 electric bicycle,” or “speed pedal-assisted electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped
with a motor that provides assistance only when the rider is pedaling, that is not capable of
exclusively propelling the bicycle, except as provided in paragraph (4), and that ceases to
provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 28 miles per hour, and equipped
with a speedometer.

 A class 1 or class 3 electric bicycle may have start assistance or a walk mode that propels the
electric bicycle on motor power alone, up to a maximum speed of 3.7 miles per hour.

Should CVC section 312.5 be modified in the future to change the definition of an electric bicycle
from those above, the definitions above will prevail unless the City modifies these definitions through
a subsequent ordinance.

There are also several common misconceptions regarding conveyance devices that are similar in
nature, but do not legally qualify as e-bikes. The following devices are NOT considered e-bikes and
are defined as motor vehicles per the State of California Department of Motor Vehicles. Claremont
Municipal Code 11.10.030 prohibits the operation of motor vehicles in the Claremont Hills Wilderness
Park.

 Motorcycles: A motorcycle is a motor vehicle with a seat or saddle for the rider and is designed
to travel on not more than three wheels.

 Motor-Driven Cycles: A motor-driven cycle is a motorcycle with less than a 150 cc motor size.
 Motorized Scooters: A motorized scooter is defined as any two-wheeled “device” with a motor,

handlebars, and a floorboard for standing on when riding.
 Mopeds: A motorized bicycle or moped is a two or three-wheeled device, capable of no more

than 30 miles per hour (mph) on level ground, and equipped with:
o Fully operative pedals for human propulsion.
o A motor producing less than four gross brake horsepower and an automatic

transmission.
o No pedals if powered solely by electrical energy.

Both proposed ordinances further define conveyance devices and vehicles that would be prohibited
in the CHWP, specifically stating the following:

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 3 of 8
powered by Legistar™



“B. No person shall operate an unauthorized motor vehicle, including, but not limited to four
-wheel drive vehicles, motorcycles, motor bikes, motor dirt bikes, motorized scooters, all-
terrain vehicles, off highway vehicles, or any other motorized vehicles or conveyance device
within park boundaries or in parking lots, unless a permit has been issued by the Director of
Recreation and Human Services or his or her designee.”

“C. No person shall operate or drive any electric or combustible motorized skateboard,
scooter, dirt bike, mini bike, mini motor bike, mini motorcycle, go-kart, go-ped, mo-ped, all-
terrain-vehicle, quad runner, dune buggy or any similar electric or combustible motorized
wheeled conveyance, except for electric bicycles as defined in section 11.10.080, within park
boundaries or parking lots unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and
Human Services or his or her designee.”

2024 E-Bike Survey and Feedback from Community Groups

In August of 2024, staff solicited feedback on the use of e-bikes in the CHWP from park visitors and
residents through an online survey. This survey was advertised through posters at all entrances to
the CHWP, social media, the City Manager’s weekly update, and the CHWP subscription-based
email list. The survey was also circulated on social media in several hiking and mountain biking
interest groups. A copy of the survey is included as an attachment to this report. There were 2,546
survey responses received, and a summary of those responses is provided below.

 47% of respondents indicated they would prefer only manual pedal / non-motorized bicycles
be permitted.

 30% indicated they would prefer Class 1 e-bikes to be permitted.
 10% indicated they would prefer Class 1 & 2 e-bikes to be permitted.
 13% indicated they would prefer all classes of e-bikes to be permitted.

It can be deduced from this survey that approximately 47% of respondents favored a prohibition on

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 4 of 8
powered by Legistar™



motorized cycles, while 53% of respondents favored allowing at least some classification of e-bike.
However, it should be noted that this survey is a general polling and is not considered statistically
valid.

Out of the 2,546 responses received, a total of 1,087 responses included additional comments.
These comments have been summarized below.

 55% (595) of comments received discussed the issue of safety. 475 comments convey clear
opposition to e-bikes due to safety concerns, specifically:

o Speed: 300 comments discuss bike speeds as a danger.
 130 comments address the speed of all bikes generally.
 170 comments voice concerns about the faster speed of e-bikes.

o Mixed Use/Shared Trails: For 266 respondents, the concern is shared/mixed use trails
that aren't safe, including the sentiment that it's too crowded to safely allow e-
bikes/bikes on trails.
 106 comments raise safety concerns around sharing trails with any/all bikes.
 160 comments are concerned with sharing trails with e-bikes.

o User Behaviors: 114 comments received are concerned with unsafe rider behaviors,
including lack of etiquette/control/communication.
 56 comments address behaviors of all/any bikers, not only e-bikes.

o Approach Warnings: 73 comments note safety concerns with approaching bikes and no
notice/warning (such as bells or voice calls).

o Rider Experience: 46 comments say e-bikes enable less experienced riders to use
trails, which makes the trails less safe.

o E-Bike Weight and Power: 19 comments were received stating that respondents feel e-
bikes are more risky due to their added weight/power, they are more difficult to control
and could do more damage.

 12% (124) of comments on the topic of safety are in favor of e-bikes in some manner.
o User Behavior/Speed: 95 comments note that safety is a function of individual behavior

and riding responsibly, including maintaining safe speeds.
o Mixed Use/Shared Trails: 38 comments discuss ideas for safely managing mixed

use/shared trails through trail management (for example, separate times or trails for
bikes)

o Bike Classification and Rider Qualification: 40 argue for safety of e-bikes based on bike
classification or rider need.

Outside of safety, other topics raised by survey participants that oppose e-bikes include:

 Patron Experience: 152 comments indicate ways respondents feel e-bikes detract from the
wilderness experience and encourage use contrary to enjoyment/protection of the natural
environment, such as:

o Trails being designed for manual recreation.
o High speed traffic degrading the peace of being in nature.
o Tires kicking up dirt/dust and rocks.

 Impact on Environment and Wildlife: 25 comments voice concerns about damage to the
environment, trails, and wildlife, including:

o Negative impacts wildlife and inhibits natural behaviors.

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 5 of 8
powered by Legistar™



o Additional damage/erosion to trails.
o Increased fire risk from batteries and motors.

Outside of safety, the topic raised most by respondents in favor of e-bikes is accessibility.
 210 comments state that e-bikes are critical/essential for portions of the population to

exercise, maintain healthy/outdoor lifestyles, and enjoy our parks and trails.

Both proponents and opponents of e-bikes agreed that there is a need for structure and additional
safety measures with use of bikes (both manual and electric) in the CHWP. Commenters raised the
following ideas for consideration when managing trail use:

 Require bells on all bikes
 Increase signage, traffic flow reminders (stay to the right), and trail etiquette
 Separate/designated trails for bikes and/or limit/designate specific times for bike use.
 Bike education and safety training
 Limit group size or the number of riders
 Have consistency with local and state trail system
 Restrict certain classes of e-bike

Additionally, feedback was received from the Friends of the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park and
Claremont Wildlands Conservancy. Both groups have a vested interest in the success of the CHWP,
and their letters are included as attachments to this report.

Neighboring Trail System E-Bike Regulations

During the development of this ordinance, staff researched regulations on e-bike use for nearby trails
and park systems of a similar nature to the CHWP, such as County of Los Angeles Regional Parks,
Chino Hills State Park, and Orange County Parks.

It should be noted that Marshall Canyon Regional Park, operated by the County of Los Angeles, is
the only trail system that connects directly to the CHWP’s trail network. As shown above, the County
of Los Angeles does not permit e-bikes on their trails at this time.

Accessibility Requirements and the Americans with Disabilities Act

Many respondents to the survey indicated that e-bikes play a pivotal role in increasing accessibility
for those who may not otherwise be able to bike in the CHWP. The City recognizes the use of e-bikes
as Other Power-Driven Mobility Devices (OPDMD) in areas where they can be operated safely,

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 6 of 8
powered by Legistar™



without posing substantial risk of serious harm to natural or cultural resources. OPDMDs are
considered to be any mobility device powered by batteries, fuel, or other engines-whether or not
designed primarily for use by individuals with mobility disabilities-that is used by individuals with
mobility disabilities for the purpose of locomotion, but that is not a wheelchair. Use of these devices is
restricted to people with a qualifying disability as defined by Title II of the Americans with Disabilities
Act (ADA) (28 CFR Part 35 § 35.108). For the purposes of OPDMD use, a qualifying disability is any
physical impairment that substantially limits a person's mobility. All users of OPDMDs must provide
credible assurance that the mobility device is required for locomotion because of their disability.
Regardless of any approved ordinance, the City must comply with the ADA.

For those who wish to utilize an e-bike as an OPDMD, an administrative process will be provided for
those individuals to provide the required documents and obtain a permit at no charge.

Enforcement Considerations

Should one of the proposed ordinances be adopted by the City Council, the provisions will be
adopted into Chapter 11 of the Claremont Municipal Code, “Public Parks and Facilities”, and any
violation of said Chapter shall be punishable as a misdemeanor unless the citing officer or the
prosecuting attorney determines that it would be in the interests of justice to cite or prosecute the
violation as an infraction. Enforcement operations would primarily be conducted by the Claremont
Park Ranger unit.

The City’s Park Rangers employ various methods but focus their efforts on gaining compliance
through education and advisement. However, administrative citations can be issued for violations.
Additionally, the proposed ordinances incorporate language that requires individuals in violation of
the Chapter to vacate the park at the direction of law enforcement or Recreation and Human
Services staff.

There are several challenges regarding enforcement. For example:
 It can be difficult to distinguish between certain e-bikes and regular bicycles.
 If only certain classes of e-bikes were permitted, enforcement personnel would need to inspect

any bicycle suspected to be in violation to ascertain its class from the manufacturer’s sticker.
 Bicycles and e-bikes can be modified or tampered with to increase speed or bypass the

requirement to pedal, although doing so is a violation of California Vehicle Code 24016.
 It is not feasible to conduct traffic stops of bicycles inside the CHWP.
 Enforcement staff is limited.

However, even in consideration of these challenges, staff recommend that one of the proposed
ordinances be adopted to mitigate current concerns, as it is expected the majority of individuals will
voluntarily comply, as evidenced by the “Share the Trail” campaign.

LEGAL REVIEW

The City Attorney has reviewed and approved the proposed Ordinance.

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 7 of 8
powered by Legistar™



RELATIONSHIP TO CITY PLANNING DOCUMENTS

Staff has evaluated the agenda item in relationship to the City’s strategic and visioning documents
and finds that it applies to the following City Planning Documents: Claremont Hills Wilderness Park
Master Plan.

CEQA REVIEW

This item is not subject to environmental review under the California Environmental Quality Act
(CEQA).

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS

The agenda and staff report for this item have been posted on the City website and distributed to
interested parties. If you desire a paper copy, please contact the Recreation and Human Services
Department.

Submitted by: Prepared by:

Melissa Vollaro Eric Ey
Recreation and Human Services Director Recreation and Human Services Manager

Attachments:
A - Proposed Changes to Chapter 11 of the Claremont Municipal Code
B - Proposed Ordinance Prohibiting the Use of E-Bikes in the CHWP
C - Proposed Ordinance Prohibiting the Use of Class 2 and 3 E-Bikes in the CHWP
D - Letter from the Friends of the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park
E - Letter from the Claremont Wildlands Conservancy
F - 2024 E-Bike Survey Copy

CLAREMONT Printed on 3/6/2025Page 8 of 8
powered by Legistar™



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT  
AMENDING TITLE 11 OF THE CLAREMONT MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADOPT TRAIL 
ETIQUETTE STANDARDS AND RESTRICT THE USE OF MOTORIZED DEVICES IN 
THE CLAREMONT HILLS WILDERNESS PARK. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Claremont (“City”) has adopted the Claremont Municipal 

Code, which includes Title 11 titled “Public Parks and Facilities” (“Chapter 11.10”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Title 11 addresses the regulation of bicycles and motor vehicles in 

the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, as a result of advances in technology and in the interest of public 

safety, the City now wishes to regulate electric bicycles and motorized wheeled 
conveyance devices in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 

 
WHEREAS, an increase in park visitation has demonstrated a need to codify trail 

etiquette procedures; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the Claremont Municipal Code update 

Chapter 11.10 to regulate these devices in the Claremont Hillsides Wilderness Park; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the staff report and all of the 

information, evidence, and testimony received in connection with the public meeting on 
this Ordinance.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT, 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  Incorporation of Recitals 
 
The City Council hereby finds that all of the foregoing recitals and the staff report 

presented herewith are true and correct and are hereby incorporated and adopted as 
findings of the City Council as if fully set forth herein. 

 
SECTION 2. CEQA  
 
The proposed amendments to the Municipal Code are not considered a “project” 

under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Section 15378(b)(2) excludes 
“[c]ontinuing administrative ... activities” from its definition of “project.” Even if the 
amendments were a “project,” they would be exempt from environmental review 
pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed amendments 
will not result in a direct physical change to the environment. 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



Ordinance No.  

 

SECTION 3. Code Amendments 
 
Title 11 of the Claremont Municipal Code is hereby amended as set forth below: 
 
Title 11 PUBLIC PARKS AND FACILITIES 

11.02.070 Roads---Motor Vehicles. 

A. No person shall ride or drive, any horse or other animal or propel any 
motorized vehicle, motorcycle, or automobile in a public park other than on roads, 
trails or driveways provided for that purpose and in the directions posted. This 
section shall not apply to maintenance personnel, law enforcement personnel, or 
person responding to an emergency situation requiring vehicular access to the 
park area. 

B. No person shall operate an unauthorized motor vehicle, including, but not 
limited to four-wheel drive vehicles, motorcycles, motor bikes, motor dirt bikes, 
motorized scooters, all-terrain vehicles, off highway vehicles, or any other 
motorized vehicles or conveyance device within park boundaries or in parking 
lots, unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

C. No person shall operate or drive any electric or combustible motorized 
skateboard, scooter, dirt bike, mini bike, mini motor bike, mini motorcycle, go-kart, 
go-ped, mo-ped, all-terrain-vehicle, quad runner, dune buggy or any similar 
electric or combustible motorized wheeled conveyance, except for electric 
bicycles as defined in section 11.10.080, within park boundaries or parking lots 
unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

D. This section shall not apply to maintenance personnel, law enforcement 
personnel, or person responding to an emergency situation requiring vehicular 
access to the park area. 

11.10.080 Horses and bicycles. 
A. Definitions 
 

1. For the purposes of this Chapter, a bicycle is defined as a device 
upon which a person may ride, propelled exclusively by human power 
through a belt, chain, or gears, and having two wheels. 
 
2. For the purposes of this Chapter, an “electric bicycle” is a bicycle 
equipped with fully operable pedals and an electric motor of less than 750 
watts. 

a.  A “class 1 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed pedal-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides 
assistance only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to 

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Strikethrough



Ordinance No.  

 

provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 miles 
per hour. 

 
b. A “class 2 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed throttle-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that may be 
used exclusively to propel the bicycle, and that is not capable of 
providing assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 
miles per hour. 

 
c.  A “class 3 electric bicycle,” or “speed pedal-assisted electric 
bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides assistance 
only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to provide 
assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 28 miles per 
hour, and equipped with a speedometer. 
 

For the purposes of this Chapter, the definitions of bicycle, electric bicycle, 
and class 1, class 2, and class 3 electric bicycle shall prevail over any 
contradictory definitions of these terms (or similar terms) in the California 
Vehicle Code.  

 
B.  Only bicycles and class 1 electric bicycles may be operated within the 
Claremont Hills Wilderness Park. Class 2 and 3 electric bicycles are prohibited. 
 
B. Electric bicycles of all classes are prohibited in the Claremont Hills 
Wilderness Park. 
 
C. No person shall ride or drive any horse or propel any bicycle or electric 
bicycle other than on roads or trails designated by the Director of Recreation and 
Human Services and in the directions posted. 
 
D. Specific facility paved and unpaved roads or trails may be excluded from 
use for bicycles, any or all classes of electric bicycles, and/or horses by 
determination of the Director of Recreation and Human Services, or his or her 
designee. Such determinations will be based upon public safety and the potential 
impact on natural resources. Such prohibition shall be effective upon the posting 
of signs at or near each entrance to such road specifying that bicycles and/or are 
prohibited therefrom. 
 
E. Bicycles and electric bicycles shall be operated at a safe speed for the 
conditions present and in a reasonable manner. 
 
F. Any bicycle or electric bicycle operated within the Claremont Hills 
Wilderness Park shall be equipped with a warning bell. 
 
G. No persons shall operate a bicycle or electric bicycle on wet or muddy 
trails. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"



Ordinance No.  

 

 
B.  Bicycles shall yield to horses on all roads and trails. Bicycles shall yield to 
pedestrians on all roads and trails.  
 
11.10.120 Animals. 
 
No person shall: 
 

A.  Take or permit any dog or horse or other exotic pet within the park 
area unless the animal is restricted by a leash or other restraint with a lead 
of not more than 6 feet in length.  
 
B. Take or permit any animal other than a dog or horse within the park 
area. 
 
C.  Fail to clean up any waste products left by their dog(s) or horse(s). 
or other exotic pet(s). 

 
D.  Graze livestock including the use of natural forage for commercial 
purposes. 
 
E.  This section shall not apply to police service dogs engaged in law 
enforcement duties nor service animals (dogs or miniature horses) that are 
individually trained to do work or perform tasks for people with disabilities.  

 
11.10.160 Violations—Penalties---Removal. 
A.     Any violation of any provision of this chapter shall be punishable as a 
misdemeanor unless the citing officer or the prosecuting attorney determines that 
it would be in the interests of justice to cite or prosecute the violation as an 
infraction. 

B.    Permission to be within the limits of any park or park, as defined by this 
Chapter, or to use any facilities, is conditioned on users complying with all 
applicable provisions of this Chapter or any other applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations. A violation of any provision of this Chapter or of any order, 
rule, or regulation authorized by this Chapter, or of any other applicable law, 
ordinance, rule, or regulation will result in the person in violation of being a 
trespasser and a park ranger and/or code enforcement officer, police officer, or 
Director, or their respective designees ("Enforcement Official"), may remove the 
person from a park in accordance with this Section in addition to any other 
remedy or penalty. 

1.     Nothing in this Section will be construed to authorize the removal of 
any person lawfully engaged in any constitutionally protected activity. 
However, a person lawfully exercising these protected rights but who 
commits an act that is not protected can be subject to removal or 
exclusion. 

Deleted: .

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", Right:  -0.03", Space
Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt



Ordinance No.  

 

2.     For the purposes of this Section, removal is an order given by the 
Enforcement Official, directing a person to immediately leave a park and 
not return for the remainder of the day. 

11.10.180 Trail Etiquette and Yielding. 

A. Right of Way 

1. All users must yield to emergency or maintenance vehicles.  

2. Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must yield to pedestrians and 
equestrians. 

3.  Pedestrians must yield to equestrians. 

B. Users shall remain to the right side of the trail, except when passing. 
Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must utilize a bell and/or verbal 
announcements when passing others. Passing shall only occur on the left when 
safe to do so. 

C. Users shall not ride, walk, or run more than 2 persons abreast. 

D.  When being passed by another user, persons shall move to the far right of 
the trail. 

E. No user shall wear a headset covering, earplugs in, or earphones 
covering, resting on, or inserted in, both ears. 
 
SECTION 4. Severability  
 
If any section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of 

this ordinance for any reason is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would 
have adopted this ordinance, and each section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, 
clause, phrase, or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, 
subsections, subdivisions, sentences, clauses, phrases, or portions thereof be declared 
invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
SECTION 5. Publication 
 
The Mayor shall sign this Ordinance and the City Clerk shall attest and certify to 

the passage and adoption of it, and within fifteen (15) days, publish a summary of the 
Ordinance in the Claremont Courier, a weekly newspaper of general circulation, printed, 
published, and circulated in the City of Claremont.   

 
 



Ordinance No.  

 

SECTION 6. Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
    
PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this ______ day of _______ 2025. 
       
 
      ________________________________ 
      Mayor, City of Claremont 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk, City of Claremont 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT  
AMENDING TITLE 11 OF THE CLAREMONT MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADOPT TRAIL 
ETIQUETTE STANDARDS AND RESTRICT THE USE OF MOTORIZED DEVICES IN 
THE CLAREMONT HILLS WILDERNESS PARK. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Claremont (“City”) has adopted the Claremont Municipal 

Code, which includes Title 11 titled “Public Parks and Facilities” (“Chapter 11.10”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Title 11 addresses the regulation of bicycles and motor vehicles in 

the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, as a result of advances in technology and in the interest of public 

safety, the City now wishes to regulate electric bicycles and motorized wheeled 
conveyance devices in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 

 
WHEREAS, an increase in park visitation has demonstrated a need to codify trail 

etiquette procedures; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the Claremont Municipal Code update 

Chapter 11.10 to regulate these devices in the Claremont Hillsides Wilderness Park; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the staff report and all of the 

information, evidence, and testimony received in connection with the public meeting on 
this Ordinance.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT, 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  Incorporation of Recitals 
 
The City Council hereby finds that all of the foregoing recitals and the staff report 

presented herewith are true and correct and are hereby incorporated and adopted as 
findings of the City Council as if fully set forth herein. 

 
SECTION 2. CEQA  
 
The proposed amendments to the Municipal Code are not considered a “project” 

under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Section 15378(b)(2) excludes 
“[c]ontinuing administrative ... activities” from its definition of “project.” Even if the 
amendments were a “project,” they would be exempt from environmental review 
pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed amendments 
will not result in a direct physical change to the environment. 

 

 ATTACHMENT B



Ordinance No.  

 

SECTION 3. Code Amendments 
 
Title 11 of the Claremont Municipal Code is hereby amended as set forth below: 
 
Title 11 PUBLIC PARKS AND FACILITIES 

11.02.070 Roads---Motor Vehicles. 

A. No person shall ride drive, or propel any motorized vehicle, motorcycle, or 
automobile in a public park other than on roads, trails or driveways provided for 
that purpose and in the directions posted.  

B. No person shall operate an unauthorized motor vehicle, including, but not 
limited to four-wheel drive vehicles, motorcycles, motor bikes, motor dirt bikes, 
motorized scooters, all-terrain vehicles, off highway vehicles, or any other 
motorized vehicles or conveyance device within park boundaries or in parking 
lots, unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

C. No person shall operate or drive any electric or combustible motorized 
skateboard, scooter, dirt bike, mini bike, mini motor bike, mini motorcycle, go-kart, 
go-ped, mo-ped, all-terrain-vehicle, quad runner, dune buggy or any similar 
electric or combustible motorized wheeled conveyance, except for electric 
bicycles as defined in section 11.10.080, within park boundaries or parking lots 
unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

D. This section shall not apply to maintenance personnel, law enforcement 
personnel, or person responding to an emergency situation requiring vehicular 
access to the park area. 

11.10.080 Horses and bicycles. 
A. Definitions 
 

1. For the purposes of this Chapter, a bicycle is defined as a device 
upon which a person may ride, propelled exclusively by human power 
through a belt, chain, or gears, and having two wheels. 
 
2. For the purposes of this Chapter, an “electric bicycle” is a bicycle 
equipped with fully operable pedals and an electric motor of less than 750 
watts. 

a.  A “class 1 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed pedal-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides 
assistance only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to 
provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 miles 
per hour. 

 



Ordinance No.  

 

b. A “class 2 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed throttle-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that may be 
used exclusively to propel the bicycle, and that is not capable of 
providing assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 
miles per hour. 

 
c.  A “class 3 electric bicycle,” or “speed pedal-assisted electric 
bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides assistance 
only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to provide 
assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 28 miles per 
hour, and equipped with a speedometer. 
 

For the purposes of this Chapter, the definitions of bicycle, electric bicycle, 
and class 1, class 2, and class 3 electric bicycle shall prevail over any 
contradictory definitions of these terms (or similar terms) in the California 
Vehicle Code.  

 
B. Electric bicycles of all classes are prohibited in the Claremont Hills 
Wilderness Park. 
 
C. No person shall ride or drive any horse or propel any bicycle or electric 
bicycle other than on roads or trails designated by the Director of Recreation and 
Human Services and in the directions posted. 
 
D. Specific facility paved and unpaved roads or trails may be excluded from 
use for bicycles, any or all classes of electric bicycles, and/or horses by 
determination of the Director of Recreation and Human Services, or his or her 
designee. Such determinations will be based upon public safety and the potential 
impact on natural resources. Such prohibition shall be effective upon the posting 
of signs at or near each entrance to such road specifying that bicycles and/or are 
prohibited therefrom. 
 
E. Bicycles and electric bicycles shall be operated at a safe speed for the 
conditions present and in a reasonable manner. 
 
F. Any bicycle or electric bicycle operated within the Claremont Hills 
Wilderness Park shall be equipped with a warning bell. 
 
G. No persons shall operate a bicycle or electric bicycle on wet or muddy 
trails. 
 
11.10.120 Animals. 
 
No person shall: 
 



Ordinance No.  

 

A.  Take or permit any dog or horse within the park area unless the 
animal is restricted by a leash or other restraint with a lead of not more 
than 6 feet in length.  
 
B. Take or permit any animal other than a dog or horse within the park 
area. 
 
C.  Fail to clean up any waste products left by their dog(s) or horse(s).  

 
D.  Graze livestock, including the use of natural forage for commercial 
purposes. 
 
E.  This section shall not apply to police service dogs engaged in law 
enforcement duties nor service animals (dogs or miniature horses) that are 
individually trained to do work or perform tasks for people with disabilities. 
  

11.10.160 Violations—Penalties---Removal. 
A.     Any violation of any provision of this chapter shall be punishable as a 
misdemeanor unless the citing officer or the prosecuting attorney determines that 
it would be in the interests of justice to cite or prosecute the violation as an 
infraction. 

B.    Permission to be within the limits of any park or park, as defined by this 
Chapter, or to use any facilities, is conditioned on users complying with all 
applicable provisions of this Chapter or any other applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations. A violation of any provision of this Chapter or of any order, 
rule, or regulation authorized by this Chapter, or of any other applicable law, 
ordinance, rule, or regulation will result in the person in violation of being a 
trespasser and a park ranger and/or code enforcement officer, police officer, or 
Director, or their respective designees ("Enforcement Official"), may remove the 
person from a park in accordance with this Section in addition to any other 
remedy or penalty. 

1.     Nothing in this Section will be construed to authorize the removal of 
any person lawfully engaged in any constitutionally protected activity. 
However, a person lawfully exercising these protected rights but who 
commits an act that is not protected can be subject to removal or 
exclusion. 

2.     For the purposes of this Section, removal is an order given by the 
Enforcement Official, directing a person to immediately leave a park and 
not return for the remainder of the day. 

11.10.180 Trail Etiquette and Yielding. 

A. Right of Way 



Ordinance No.  

 

1. All users must yield to emergency or maintenance vehicles.  

2. Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must yield to pedestrians and 
equestrians. 

3.  Pedestrians must yield to equestrians. 

B. Users shall remain to the right side of the trail, except when passing. 
Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must utilize a bell and/or verbal 
announcements when passing others. Passing shall only occur on the left when 
safe to do so. 

C. Users shall not ride, walk, or run more than 2 persons abreast. 

D.  When being passed by another user, persons shall move to the far right of 
the trail. 

E. No user shall wear a headset covering, earplugs in, or earphones 
covering, resting on, or inserted in, both ears. 
 
SECTION 4. Severability  
 
If any section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of 

this ordinance for any reason is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would 
have adopted this ordinance, and each section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, 
clause, phrase, or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, 
subsections, subdivisions, sentences, clauses, phrases, or portions thereof be declared 
invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
SECTION 5. Publication 
 
The Mayor shall sign this Ordinance and the City Clerk shall attest and certify to 

the passage and adoption of it, and within fifteen (15) days, publish a summary of the 
Ordinance in the Claremont Courier, a weekly newspaper of general circulation, printed, 
published, and circulated in the City of Claremont.   

 
SECTION 6. Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
    
PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this ______ day of _______ 2025. 
       
 
      ________________________________ 
      Mayor, City of Claremont 



Ordinance No.  

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk, City of Claremont 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT  
AMENDING TITLE 11 OF THE CLAREMONT MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADOPT TRAIL 
ETIQUETTE STANDARDS AND RESTRICT THE USE OF MOTORIZED DEVICES IN 
THE CLAREMONT HILLS WILDERNESS PARK. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Claremont (“City”) has adopted the Claremont Municipal 

Code, which includes Title 11 titled “Public Parks and Facilities” (“Chapter 11.10”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Title 11 addresses the regulation of bicycles and motor vehicles in 

the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, as a result of advances in technology and in the interest of public 

safety, the City now wishes to regulate electric bicycles and motorized wheeled 
conveyance devices in the Claremont Hills Wilderness Park; and 

 
WHEREAS, an increase in park visitation has demonstrated a need to codify trail 

etiquette procedures; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the Claremont Municipal Code update 

Chapter 11.10 to regulate these devices in the Claremont Hillsides Wilderness Park; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the staff report and all of the 

information, evidence, and testimony received in connection with the public meeting on 
this Ordinance.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLAREMONT, 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  Incorporation of Recitals 
 
The City Council hereby finds that all of the foregoing recitals and the staff report 

presented herewith are true and correct and are hereby incorporated and adopted as 
findings of the City Council as if fully set forth herein. 

 
SECTION 2. CEQA  
 
The proposed amendments to the Municipal Code are not considered a “project” 

under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Section 15378(b)(2) excludes 
“[c]ontinuing administrative ... activities” from its definition of “project.” Even if the 
amendments were a “project,” they would be exempt from environmental review 
pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed amendments 
will not result in a direct physical change to the environment. 

 

 ATTACHMENT C



Ordinance No.  

 

SECTION 3. Code Amendments 
 
Title 11 of the Claremont Municipal Code is hereby amended as set forth below: 
 
Title 11 PUBLIC PARKS AND FACILITIES 

11.02.070 Roads---Motor Vehicles. 

A. No person shall ride drive, or propel any motorized vehicle, motorcycle, or 
automobile in a public park other than on roads, trails or driveways provided for 
that purpose and in the directions posted.  

B. No person shall operate an unauthorized motor vehicle, including, but not 
limited to four-wheel drive vehicles, motorcycles, motor bikes, motor dirt bikes, 
motorized scooters, all-terrain vehicles, off highway vehicles, or any other 
motorized vehicles or conveyance device within park boundaries or in parking 
lots, unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

C. No person shall operate or drive any electric or combustible motorized 
skateboard, scooter, dirt bike, mini bike, mini motor bike, mini motorcycle, go-kart, 
go-ped, mo-ped, all-terrain-vehicle, quad runner, dune buggy or any similar 
electric or combustible motorized wheeled conveyance, except for electric 
bicycles as defined in section 11.10.080, within park boundaries or parking lots 
unless a permit has been issued by the Director of Recreation and Human 
Services or his or her designee. 

D. This section shall not apply to maintenance personnel, law enforcement 
personnel, or person responding to an emergency situation requiring vehicular 
access to the park area. 

11.10.080 Horses and bicycles. 
A. Definitions 
 

1. For the purposes of this Chapter, a bicycle is defined as a device 
upon which a person may ride, propelled exclusively by human power 
through a belt, chain, or gears, and having two wheels. 
 
2. For the purposes of this Chapter, an “electric bicycle” is a bicycle 
equipped with fully operable pedals and an electric motor of less than 750 
watts. 

a.  A “class 1 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed pedal-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides 
assistance only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to 
provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 miles 
per hour. 

 



Ordinance No.  

 

b. A “class 2 electric bicycle,” or “low-speed throttle-assisted 
electric bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that may be 
used exclusively to propel the bicycle, and that is not capable of 
providing assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 20 
miles per hour. 

 
c.  A “class 3 electric bicycle,” or “speed pedal-assisted electric 
bicycle,” is a bicycle equipped with a motor that provides assistance 
only when the rider is pedaling, and that ceases to provide 
assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of 28 miles per 
hour, and equipped with a speedometer. 
 

For the purposes of this Chapter, the definitions of bicycle, electric bicycle, 
and class 1, class 2, and class 3 electric bicycle shall prevail over any 
contradictory definitions of these terms (or similar terms) in the California 
Vehicle Code.  

 
B.  Only bicycles and class 1 electric bicycles may be operated within the 
Claremont Hills Wilderness Park. Class 2 and 3 electric bicycles are prohibited. 
 
C. No person shall ride or drive any horse or propel any bicycle or electric 
bicycle other than on roads or trails designated by the Director of Recreation and 
Human Services and in the directions posted. 
 
D. Specific facility paved and unpaved roads or trails may be excluded from 
use for bicycles, any or all classes of electric bicycles, and/or horses by 
determination of the Director of Recreation and Human Services, or his or her 
designee. Such determinations will be based upon public safety and the potential 
impact on natural resources. Such prohibition shall be effective upon the posting 
of signs at or near each entrance to such road specifying that bicycles and/or are 
prohibited therefrom. 
 
E. Bicycles and electric bicycles shall be operated at a safe speed for the 
conditions present and in a reasonable manner. 
 
F. Any bicycle or electric bicycle operated within the Claremont Hills 
Wilderness Park shall be equipped with a warning bell. 
 
G. No persons shall operate a bicycle or electric bicycle on wet or muddy 
trails. 
 
11.10.120 Animals. 
 
No person shall: 
 



Ordinance No.  

 

A.  Take or permit any dog or horse within the park area unless the 
animal is restricted by a leash or other restraint with a lead of not more 
than 6 feet in length.  
 
B. Take or permit any animal other than a dog or horse within the park 
area. 
 
C.  Fail to clean up any waste products left by their dog(s) or horse(s).  

 
D.  Graze livestock, including the use of natural forage for commercial 
purposes. 
 
E.  This section shall not apply to police service dogs engaged in law 
enforcement duties nor service animals (dogs or miniature horses) that are 
individually trained to do work or perform tasks for people with disabilities. 
  

11.10.160 Violations—Penalties---Removal. 
A.     Any violation of any provision of this chapter shall be punishable as a 
misdemeanor unless the citing officer or the prosecuting attorney determines that 
it would be in the interests of justice to cite or prosecute the violation as an 
infraction. 

B.    Permission to be within the limits of any park or park, as defined by this 
Chapter, or to use any facilities, is conditioned on users complying with all 
applicable provisions of this Chapter or any other applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations. A violation of any provision of this Chapter or of any order, 
rule, or regulation authorized by this Chapter, or of any other applicable law, 
ordinance, rule, or regulation will result in the person in violation of being a 
trespasser and a park ranger and/or code enforcement officer, police officer, or 
Director, or their respective designees ("Enforcement Official"), may remove the 
person from a park in accordance with this Section in addition to any other 
remedy or penalty. 

1.     Nothing in this Section will be construed to authorize the removal of 
any person lawfully engaged in any constitutionally protected activity. 
However, a person lawfully exercising these protected rights but who 
commits an act that is not protected can be subject to removal or 
exclusion. 

2.     For the purposes of this Section, removal is an order given by the 
Enforcement Official, directing a person to immediately leave a park and 
not return for the remainder of the day. 

11.10.180 Trail Etiquette and Yielding. 

A. Right of Way 



Ordinance No.  

 

1. All users must yield to emergency or maintenance vehicles.  

2. Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must yield to pedestrians and 
equestrians. 

3.  Pedestrians must yield to equestrians. 

B. Users shall remain to the right side of the trail, except when passing. 
Bicycle and electric bicycle operators must utilize a bell and/or verbal 
announcements when passing others. Passing shall only occur on the left when 
safe to do so. 

C. Users shall not ride, walk, or run more than 2 persons abreast. 

D.  When being passed by another user, persons shall move to the far right of 
the trail. 

E. No user shall wear a headset covering, earplugs in, or earphones 
covering, resting on, or inserted in, both ears. 
 
SECTION 4. Severability  
 
If any section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of 

this ordinance for any reason is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would 
have adopted this ordinance, and each section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, 
clause, phrase, or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, 
subsections, subdivisions, sentences, clauses, phrases, or portions thereof be declared 
invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
SECTION 5. Publication 
 
The Mayor shall sign this Ordinance and the City Clerk shall attest and certify to 

the passage and adoption of it, and within fifteen (15) days, publish a summary of the 
Ordinance in the Claremont Courier, a weekly newspaper of general circulation, printed, 
published, and circulated in the City of Claremont.   

 
SECTION 6. Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force thirty (30) days after its adoption. 
    
PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED this ______ day of _______ 2025. 
       
 
      ________________________________ 
      Mayor, City of Claremont 



Ordinance No.  

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk, City of Claremont 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney 



•

•

ATTACHMENT D



•

•

•

•











ATTACHMENT F




	00. Agenda 
	01. Minutes Report  
	Minutes Attachment 

	02. Committee Meeting Minutes Report 
	Attachment A
	Attachment B
	03. Tree Plantings and Removals Report
	Attachment A 
	Attachment B
	Attachment C

	04. Policies and Procedures for CoHR Report  
	Attachment A
	Attachment B 


	05. E-Bikes Report 
	Attachment A 
	Attachment B
	Attachment C
	Attachment D
	Attachment E
	Attachment F


